JUDGE SWEET

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

NICK ORAM, on behalf of himself and on behalf
of all other similarly situated persons,

Plaintiff,

V.

SOULCYCLE, LLC, SOULCYCLE HOLDINGS :
LLC, SOULCYCLE 384 LAFAYETTE STREET, : COMPLAINT
LLC, SOULCYCLE 350 AMSTERDAM, LLC, :

SOULCYCLE 609 GREENWICH STREET, LLC, :

SOULCYCLE BRIDGEHAMPTON, LLC, : Jury Trial Demanded
SOULCYCLE EAST 18TH STREET, LLC, :

SOULCYCLE EAST 63RD STREET, LLC,

SOULCYCLE EAST HAMPTON, LLC,

SOULCYCLE ROSLYN, LL.C, SOULCYCLE

SCARSDALE LLC, SOULCYCLE TRIBECA,

LLC, SOULCYCLE WEST 19TH STREET, LLC,

SOULCYCLE BRENTWOOD, LLC,

SOULCYCLE SANTA MONICA, LLC, and

SOULCYCLE WEST HOLLYWOOD, LIL.C,

Defendants.

X

Plaintift Nick Oram (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and on behalf of all other similarly
situated persons, by and through counsel, Thompson Wigdor LLP, as and for the Complaint in
this action against Defendants SoulCycle LL.C, SoulCycle Holdings, LLC, SoulCycle 384
Lafayette Street, LLC, SoulCycle 350 Amsterdam, LL.C, SoulCycle 609 Greenwich Street, LLC,
SoulCycle Bridgehampton, LLC, SoulCycle East 18th Street, LLC, SoulCycle East 63rd Street,
LLC, SoulCycle East Hampton, LLC, SoulCycle Roslyn, LLC, SoulCycle Scarsdale, LLC,
SoulCycle Tribeca LL.C, SoulCycle West 1.9th Street, LLC, SoulCycle Brentwood, LLC,
SoulCycle Santa Monica, LLC and SoulCycle Hollywood, LLC (“SoulCycle” or “Defendants™),

hereby alleges as follows:



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

l. SoulCycle’s wage and hour violations are “spinning” out of control and this
lawsuit attempts to “hit the brakes” on these unlawful practices. SoulCycle has built its brand of
so-called “revolutionary indoor cycling” (commonly referred to as “spin” or “spinning”) by
providing what it describes as the “best instructors and staff, trained to deliver unique services
and personal attention to all levels of riders.” However, while SoulCycle has built its highly
successful and profitable business on the backs of the “best instructors” in the industry,
SoulCycle has failed to compensate these instructors for numerous hours spent in fraining,
preparing for classes, developing routines, compiling playlists, communicating with customers,
attending meetings, leading special event classes and engaging in marketing efforts. In fact,
despite the dozens of hours per week these instructors are required to work above and beyond the
time instructing a class, SoulCycle compensates these instructors for only the approximately 45
grueling minutes during which each class is taught. SoulCycle’s unlawful wage practices are
consistent with its mistreatment of customers — amazingly, SoulCycle does not provide any
reimbursement to customers whb are unable to attend classes they sign up for (unless they cancel
the class by 5:00 pm the night before), even when SoulCycle is able to re-sell the vacant bike
spot. As aresult, SoulCycle very often generates revenue from classes at a rate that exceeds the
total number of bikes in a studio, to the detrimenvt of its customers. Plaintiff and all other
similarly situated SoulCycle instructors are entitled to be paid for all hours they work and are

required to work.

NATURE OF THE CLAIMS

2. Plaintiff brings this action, on behalf of himself and on behalf of all other

similarly situated persons, to recover damages due to Defendants’ violations of the New York



Labor Law (“NYLL”), the California Labor Code (“CLC”), and the Unfair Competition and
Business Practices Act (“UCL”).

3. Plaintiff’s claims under the NYLL, CLC and UCL are brought as a class action
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule (“FRCP”) 23 on behalf of himself and on
behalf of all other similarly-situated persons who were/are employed as instructors and/or in
similar positions during the applicable statutory limitations periods, to the date of the final
disposition of this action.

4. Plaintiff and all other similarly-situated persons who were/are employed as
instructors and/or in similar positions in New York from May 2, 2007 to the preéent (“New York
Class Period”) are jointly referred to herein as the “New York Class.” Plaintiff is a member of
the New York Class as he worked for Defendants in New York during the New York Class
Period.

5. Plaintiff and all other similarly-situated persons who were/are employed as
instructors and/or in similar positions in New York from May 2, 2009 to the present (“California
Class Period”) are jointly referred to herein as the “California Class.” Plaintiff is a member of
the California Class as he worked for Defendants in California during the California Class
Period.

6. The New York Class and the California Class are similarly situated because, inter
alia, during the New York Class Period and California Class Period, they were all subject to
Defendants’ common policy and/or practice of not paying the prevailing minimum wage for all
hours worked, not paying wages for certain hours‘worked whatsoever, making unlawful wage
deductions, failing to reimburse for business expenses and failing to provide accurate wage

statements.



JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. Pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act; 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2) et seq., the
Court has diversity jurisdiction because this is a class action, at least one class member is diverse
from at least one defendant, and there is more than $5,000,000 in controversy.

8. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(a), venue is proper in this district because a
substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to this action occurred in this district.

9. Plaintiff’s claims are properly consolidated with the other members of the New
York Class and the California Class as a single action because his claims involve the same
Defendants, arise from the same nexus of facts and circumstances, and involve nearly identical
issues of fact and law.

PARTIES

10.  Plaintiff Nick Oram is a resident of the State and City of New York, and was
employed by Defendants both in New York and California from approximately April 16, 2009 to
April 15,2013. At all relevant times, he was an “employee” within the meaning of all applicable
statutes.

11. Defendant SoulCycle is a New York corporation with a principal place of
business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. At all relevant times, SoulCycle was an
“employer” within the meaning of all applicable statutes.

12.  Defendant SoulCycle, LLC is a New York corporation with a principal place of
business at 117 West 72nd Street, New York, NY 10023. Defendant SoulCycle Holdings, LLC

is subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates fitness centers.



13.  Defendant SoulCycle Holdings, LL.C is a New York corporation with a principal
place of business at 1470 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10028. Defendant SoulCycle Holdings,
LLC is subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates fitness centers.

14.  Defendant SoulCycle 384 Lafayette Street, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
384 Lafayette Street, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a
fitness center at 384 Lafayette Street, New York, NY 10012.

15.  Defendant SoulCycle 350 Amsterdam, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
350 Amsterdam, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness
center at 350 Amsterdam Avenue, New York, NY 10023.

16.  Defendant SoulCycle 609 Greenwich Street, LLC is a New York corporation with
a principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
West 19th Street, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates fitness
centers.

17. Defendant SoulCycle Bridgehampton, LL.C is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
Bridgehampton, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness
center at 264 Butter Lane, Bridgehampton, NY 11932.

18. Defendant SoulCycle East 63rd Street, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
East 63rd Street, LLL.C is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LL.C that owns and dperates a fitness

center at 140 East 63rd Street, New York, NY 10065.



19.  Defendant SoulCycle East 18th Street, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
East 18th Street, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LL.C that owns and operates fitness
centers.

20.  Defendant SoulCycle East Hampton, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New _York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
East Hampton, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness
center at 69 Newtown Lane, East Hampton, NY 11937.

21.  Defendant SoulCycle Roslyn, LLC is a New York corporation with a principal
place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle Roslyn,
LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness center at 250
South Service Road, Roslyn Heights, NY 11577.

22.  Defendant SoulCycle Scarsdale, L1.C is a New York corporation with a principal
place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle Scarsdale,
LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness center at 7
Popham Road, 2nd Floor, Scarsdale, NY 10583.

23.  Defendant SoulCycle Tribeca, LL.C is a New York corporation with a principal
place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle Tribeca,
LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness center at 103
Warren Street, New York, NY 10007.

24, Defendant SoulCycle West 19th Street, LLC is a New York corporation with a

principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle



West 19th Street, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates fitness
centers.

25. Defendant SoulCycle Brentwood, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
Brentwood, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness
center at 11640 San Vicente Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90049.

26. Defendant SoulCycle Santa Monica, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
Santa Monica, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness
center at 120 Wilshire Boulevard, Santa Monica, CA 90401.

27.  Defendant SoulCycle West Hollywood, LLC is a New York corporation with a
principal place of business at 103 Warren Street, New York, NY 10007. Defendant SoulCycle
West Hollywood, LLC is a subsidiary of Equinox Holdings LLC that owns and operates a fitness
center at 8570 Sunset Boulevard, West Hollywood, CA 90069.

28. At all relevant times, the SoulCycle entities were run as, and remain, a single
business enterprise, and employed Plaintiff, the New York Class and the California Class as joint
employers and/or as a single employer.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

29.  Inoraround April 16, 2009, Plaintiff Nick Oram commenced employment with
SoulCycle as one of the company’s first spin instructors. Mr. Oram was recruited from
California due to his strong following and reputation as a premiere spin instructor. Mr. Oram’s

employment with SoulCycle ended on or around April 15, 2013.



30.  Throughout Mr. Oram’s employment at SoulCycle, Mr. Oram taught classes in
numerous locations throughout New York and California including but not limited to Tribeca,
Upper East Side, Upper West Side, Union Square, NoHo, Scarsdale, Bridgehampton and East
Hampton in New York and West Hollywood and Santa Monica in California.

31. Generally, SoulCycle classes are approximately 45 minutes.

32. As a spin instructor and throughout his employment, Mr. Oram was required to
not only lead spin classes, but also perform a variety of other tasks including but not limited to
training, preparing for classes, developing routines, compiling playlists, communicating with
customers, attending meetings, leading special event classes and engaging in marketing.

33.  Throughout the duration of Mr. Oram’s employment at SoulCycle, he was paid
strictly on a per class basis; that is, a flat rate for each class taught regardless of the length of the -
class.

34.  The per class compensation was not intended to and did not compensate Mr.
Oram for the time spent performing other tasks that were required of him as a SoulCycle
employee, including but not limited to training, preparing for classes, developing routines,
compiling playlists, communicating with customers, attending meetings, leading special event
classes and engaging in marketing. Mr. Oram was not compensated in any manner for any of
these other tasks that were required of him as a SoulCycle employee.

35.  Throughout the duration of Mr. Oram’s employment at SoulCycle, he was
required to incur business expenses for items necessary to perform his job including but not
limited to MP3 players, ipods, music, CDs, computers, mixing software, and travel expenses.

Mr. Oram was never reimbursed for these business expenses.



36.  Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, all members of the New York Class and the California Class were/are
also paid on a per class basis.

37. Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, the members of the New York Class and the California Class were/are
required to not only lead spin classes, but also perform a variety of other tasks including but not
limited to training, preparing for classes, developing routines, compiling playlists,
communicating with customers, attending meetings, leading special event classes and engaging
in marketing.

38.  Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, the per class compensation was/is not intended to and did/does not
compensate the members of the New York Class and the California Class for the time spent
performing these other tasks that were/are required as SoulCycle employees.

39.  Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, the members of the New York Class and the California Class were/are
not compensated in any manner for any of these other tasks.

40.  Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, Mr. Oram, and the members of the New York Class and the California
Class, would spend and/or are spending approximately 15 to 25 hours per week on
uncompensated tasks that were/are separate and distinct from the time spent teaching a class.

41. Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, Defendants were/are aware that Mr. Oram, and the members of the

New York Class and the California Class, have spent and/or are spending approximately 15 to 25



hours per week on uncompensated tasks that were/are separate and distinct from the class time
and were/are aware that Mr. Oram and the members of the New York Class and the California
Class have not and/or are not being compensated for this work.

42. Throughout the duration of the New York Class Period and the California Class
Period and to the present, members of the New York Class and the California Class were/are
required to incur business expenses for items necessary to perform their jobs including but not
limited to MP3 players, ipods, music, CDs, computers, mixing software, and travel expenses, for
which they were/are not being reimbursed.

RULE 23 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

43. Plaintiff brings this as a class action on behalf of both himself and all other
similarly situated instructors pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23.

44.  Plaintiff brings his New York and California claims as a class action pursuant to
FRCP 23 on behalf of himself and on behalf of the New York Class and California Class who
were/are not paid the prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked, who were/are not
furnished accurate wage statements, and whose wages were unlawfully deducted during the New
York Class Period and California Class Period, respectively.

45.  The basic job duties of the New York Class and the California Class were/are the
same as or substantially similar to those of Plaintiff, and the New York Class and the California
Class were/are paid in the same manner and under the same common policies, plans and
practices as Plaintiff.

46. The members of the New York Class and the California Class, like Plaintiff, all

have been subject to the same unlawful policies, plans and practices of Defendants, including not
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paying the prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked, failing to furnish accurate wage
statements, and making unlawful deductions from wages.

47. During the New York Class Period and the California Class Period, Defendants
were fully aware of the duties performed by Plaintiff and the New York Class and the California
Class, and that those duties were not exempt from the minimum wage and other applicable
provisions of the NYLL, CLC or UCL and/or its regulations.

48. As a result of Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein, Defendants violated the
NYLL, CLC and UCL and/or its regulations, by not paying the New York Class and the
California Class the prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked, by making unlawful
deductions from their wages and failing to furnish accurate wage statements.

49. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL, CLC and UCL and/or its regulations were
willful, repeated, knowing, intentional and without a good faith basis, and significantly damaged
Plaintiff, the New York Class and the California Class.

50. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff, the New
York Class and the California Class for the full amount of their unpaid minimum wage and
wages deducted, plus all other statutory damages and penalties, in addition to attorneys’ fees and
costs.

51. Certification of the New York Class and California Class claims as a class action
is the most efficient and economical means of resolving the questions of law and fact common to
Plaintiff’s claims and the claims of the New York Class and the California Class.

52. Plaintiff has standing to seek such relief because of the adverse effect that
Defendants’ unlawful compensation policies and practices have had on him individually and on

members of the New York Class and the California Class.
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53. Without class certification, the same evidence and issues would be subject to re-
litigation in a multitude of individual lawsuits with an attendant risk of inconsistent adjudications
and conflicting obligations.

54.  Certification of the New York Class and the California Class the most efficient
and judicious means of presenting the evidence and arguments necessary to resolve sﬁch
questions for Plaintiff, the New York Class the California Class and Defendants.

55. Plaintiff’s claims raise questions of law and fact common to the New York Class,
including but not limited to:

(a) Whether Defendants paid Plaintiff and the New York Class on a per class
basis;

(b) Whether Defendants paid Plaintiff and the New York Class for tasks
performed outside of the classes taught;

(© Whether Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the New York Class the
prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked during the New York
Class Period;

(d) Whether Defendants made unlawful deductions from the wages of
Plaintiff and the New York Class during the New York Class Period,;

(e) Whether Defendants’ failure to pay the prevailing minimum wage to
Plaintiff and the New York Class constitutes a violation of NYLL §650 e¢
seq.;

(H Whether Defendants’ deductions from the wages of Plaintiff and the
NYLL Class constitutes a violation of NYLLL §193 and 12 N.Y.C.R.R.
§142-2.10;

(2) Whether Defendants’ failed to provide Plaintiff and the New York Class
with accurate wage statements; and

(h) Whether Defendants’ violations of the NYLL and/or its regulations were
willful.

56. Plaintiff’s claims raise questions of law and fact common to the California Class,

including but not limited to:
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(a) Whether Defendants paid Plaintiff and the California Class for tasks
performed outside of the classes taught;

(b) Whether Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the California Class the
prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked during the California Class

Period;

(c) Whether Defendants made unlawful deductions from the wages of
Plaintiff and the California Class during the California Class Period;

(d) Whether Defendants’ failure to pay the prevailing minimum wage to
Plaintiff and the California Class was willful;

(e) Whether Defendants’ deductions from the wages of Plaintiff and the
California Class constitutes a violation of the CLC,;

) Whether Defendants’ failed to provide Plaintiff and the California Class
with accurate wage statements; and

(2) Whether Defendants failed to properly make final wage payments to
members of the California Class who were discharged or voluntarily
separated.

57.  These common questions of law and fact arise from the same course of events,
and each class member will make similar legal and factual arguments to prove liability.

58. Plaintiff is a member of the New York Class and the California Class that he
seeks to represent. Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of the New York Class and the
California Class. The relief Plaintiff seeks for the unlawful policies and practices complained of
herein are also typical of the relief which is sought on behalf of the New York Class and the
California Class.

59. Plaintiff’s interests are co-extensive with those of the New York Class and the
California Class that he seeks to represent in this case. Plaintiff is willing and able to represent

the New York Class and the California Class fairly and to vigorously pursue their similar

individual claims in this action.
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60. Plaintiff has retained counsel who are qualified and experienced in employment
class action litigation, and who are able to meet the time and fiscal demands necessary to litigate
a class action of this size and complexity.

61. The combined interests, experience and resources of Plaintiff and his counsel to
litigate the individual and the New York Class and the California Class claims at issue in this
case satisfy the adequacy of representation requirement of FRCP 23(a)(4).

62. The common issues of fact and law affecting Plaintiff’s claims and those of the
New York Class and the California Class, including the common issues identified above,
predominate over any issues affecting only individual claims.

63. A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient
adjudication of Plaintiff’s claims and the claims of the New York Class and the California Class.
There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

) 64.  The cost of proving Defendants’ violations of the NYLL, CLC and UCL makes it
impracticable for Plaintiff and the New York Class and the California Class to pursue their
claims individually. Maintenance of a class action promotes judicial economy by consolidating a
large class of plaintiffs litigating identical claims.

65.  The claims of the New York Class and the California Class interrelate such that
the interests of the members will be fairly and adequately protected in their absence.

66.  The questions of law and fact common to the New York Class and the California
Class arise from the same course of events and each class member makes similar legal and
factual arguments to prove the Defendants’ liability.

67. The New York Class and the California Class is so numerous that joinder of all

members is impracticable. While the exact number of the New York Class is unknown to
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Plaintiff at the present time, upon information and belief, there are at least one hundred (100)
members of the New York Class. While the exact number of the California Class is unknown to
Plaintiff at the present time, upon information and belief, there are at least fifty (50) members of
the New York Class.

68. Plaintiff is currently unaware of the identities of the New York Class and the
California Class. Accordingly, Defendants should be required to proyide Plaintiff with a list of
all persons employed by Defendants in the state of New York and California as spin instructors
and/or in similar positions during the New York Class Period and the California Class Period,
along with their last known addresses, telephone numbers and e-mail addresses so Plaintiff can
give the New York Class and the California Class notice of this action and an opportunity to
make an informed decision about whether to participate in it.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Failure to Pay Minimum Wage in Violation of NYLL §650 ef seq.)
As to Plaintiff and the New York Class

69.  Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the New York Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 68 as though they were fully set forth herein.

70.  The NYLL requires covered employers, such as Defendants, to pay all non-
exempt employees the prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked.

71. Plaintiff and the New York Class were not exempt from the requirement that
Defendants pay them the prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked under the NYLL.

72. During the New York Class Period, Defendants did not pay Plaintiff and the New
York Class the prevailing minimum wage for all hours worked for Defendants for certain hours

for which Plaintiff and the New York Class were not paid any wages.



73.  As aresult of Defendants’ failure to pay Plaintiff and the New York Class the
prevailing minimum wage for all hours, Defendants violated the NYLL.
74.  The foregoing conduct of Defendants constitutes willful violations of the NYLL.
75.  Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiff and the
New York Class and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid minimum wage, an
additional amount in liquidated damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Failure to Pay Wages in Violation of NYLL §191)
As to Plaintiff and the New York Class

76. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the New York Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference baragraphs 1 through 75 as though they were fully set forth herein.

77.  The NYLL requires covered employers, such as Defendants, to pay employees’
wages with a requisite frequency and in accordance with their agreed upon terms of employment.

78.  Plaintiff and the New York Class were not exempt from the requirement that
Defendants pay them all their wages with requisite frequency and in accordance with their
agreed upon terms of employment under the NYLL.

79. During the New York Class Period, Defendants did not pay Plaintiff and the New
York Class all their wages with the requisite frequency and in accordance with their agreed upon
terms of employment.

80.  Asaresult of Defendants’ failure to pay Plaintiff and the New York Class all their
wages with the requisite frequency, Defendants violated the NYLL.

81. The foregoing conduct of Defendants constitutes willful violations of the NYLL.
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82. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL has significantly damaged Plaintiff and the
New York Class and entitles them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an
additional amount in liquidated damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs.
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Unlawful Deductions in Violation of NYLL §193 and 12 N.Y.C.R.R. §142-2.10)
As to Plaintiff and the New York Class

83. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the New York Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 82 as though they were fully set forth herein.

84. The NYLL and 12 N.Y.C.R.R. §142-2-10 prohibit covered employers, such as
Defendants, from making deductions from the wages of employees.

8s. During the New York Class Period, Defendants unlawfully deducted amounts
from the wages of Plaintiff and the New York Class, including but not limited to, the wages
earned outside of the time spent teaching classes.

86.  During the New York Class Period, Defendants unlawfully deducted amounts
from the wages of Plaintiff and the New York Class, including but not limited to, the failure to
reimburse Plaintiff and the New York Class for business related expenses.

87.  Defendants did not make said deductions in accordance with the provisions of any
law or any rule or regulation issued by any governmental agency.

88.  Plaintiff and the New York Class did not expressly authorize Defendants in
writing to make said deductions, and said deductions were not for the benefit of Plaintiff and the
New York Class.

89. As é result of.Defendants’ unlawful deductions from the wages of Plaintiff and

the New York Class, Defendants violated the NYLL and 12 N.Y.C.R.R. §142-2-10.

17



90.  The foregoing conduct of Defendants constitute willful violations of the NYLL
and 12 N.Y.C.R.R. §142-2-10.

91. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL and 12 N.Y.C.R.R. §142-2-10 have
significantly damaged Plaintiff and the New York Class and entitles them to recover the total
amount of the wages that were deducted from their pay, an additional amount in liquidated
damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Failure to Provide Accurate Wage Statements under the NYLL)
As to Plaintiff and the New York Class

92.  Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the New York Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 91 as though they were fully set forth herein.

93.  The NYLL requires covered employers, such as Defendants, to furnish accurate
wage statements to its employees with every payment of wages. Plaintiff and the New York
Class were not exempt from this requirement.

94. During the New York Class Period, Defendants failed to furnish accurate wage
statements to Plaintiff and the New York Class, in violation of NYLL § 195 because, inter alia,
Defendants inaccurately understated the hoprs worked by Plaintiff and the New York Class.

95.  As aresult, the wage statements furnished by Defendants to Plaintiff and the
members of the New York Class contained inaccurate information with respect to the hours
worked.

96.  The foregoing conduct of Defendants constitutes willful violations of the NYLL
and/or its regulations.

97. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have damaged Plaintiff and the New York

Class and entitle them to recover damages of one hundred dollars ($100) per person affected for
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each work week that such violations occurred, up to a total of twenty-five hundred dollars
($2,500) per person affected, together with attorneys’ fees and costs.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Failure to Pay Wages In Violation of California Labor Code
§8§ 204, 223, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1197.1 and 1198)
As to Plaintiff and the California Class

98. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 97 as though they were fully set forth herein.

99,  Defendants employed Plaintiff and the California Class as non-exempt employees
entitling them to the full protections of both the CLC and the Industrial Welfare Commission
Order No. 2-2001.

100. CLC Section 1194 entitles non-exempt employees to legal minimum wages,
notwithstanding any agreements to the contrary. |

101. CLC Section 1194.2 entitles non-exempt employees to recover liquidated
damages in amounts equal to the amounts of unpaid minimum wages in addition to the
underlying unpaid minimum wages and interest thereon.

102. CLC Section 1197.1 provides that it is unlawful for any employer or any other
person acting either individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person, to pay an
employee, or cause an employee to be paid, less than the applicable minimum wage.

103. CLC Section 1198 prohibits employers from employing their employees under
conditions prohibited by applicable Industrial Welfare Commission orders.

104. CLC Section 223 makes it unlawful for employers to secretly pay their employees
lower wages than designated by contract or statute while purporting to pay wages at the legally

required rates.
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105. CLC Section 204 requires employers to timely pay earned wages to their
employees for all labor that their employees normally perform by no later than the regularly
scheduled payday for that pay period.

106. Defendants only paid Plaintiff and the California Class for a small number of
hours worked per week.

107.  As a matter of policy and practice, Defendants have only scheduled and paid
Plaintiff and the California Class for small numbers of recorded hours per week.

108. At all relevant times, Defendants required Plaintiff and the California Class to
spend uncompensated time performing various tasks, including but not limited to those tasks
described above.

109. At all relevant times, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the California Class
wages at legal rates by only paying for certain hours teaching classes, without regard to the
actual number of hours that Defendants knew, or should have known, Plaintiff and the California
Class had been working.

110.  As aresult of their wage and hour practices, Defendants have failed to pay wages
to Plaintiff and the California Class at the minimum legal rates under Sections 3 and 4 of the
Wage Order for one or more pay periods during the applicable limitations period.

111. Pursuant to Labor Code Sections 204, 223, 1194 and 1194.2, Plaintiff, and the
California Class, seeks unpaid wages, interest thereonf liquidated damages, and awards of

reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees.
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Failure to Provide Accurate Wage Statements
In Violation of California Labor Code § 226(a))
As To Plaintiff and the California Class

112. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 111 as though they were fully set forth herein.

113.  CLC Section 226(a) requires employers to furnish employees with accurate
itemized wage statemeﬁts, either semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages, showing,
inter alia, the total hours worked by the employee, the corresponding number of hours worked at
each rate, and the deductions made from the employee’s wages.

114. During the applicable limitations period, Defendants have applied centrally
devised payroll policies and practices when paying wages to Plaintiff and the California Class.

115. During the applicable limitations period, Defendants failed to provide Plaintiff
with accurate written wage statements by providing him with wage statements with inaccurate
entries for, inter alia, total hours worked.

116. During the applicable limitations period, Defendants have failed to provide the
California Class with accurate written wage statements by providing the members of the
California Class with wage statements with inaccurate entries for, inter alia, total hours worked.

117. Defendants’ failures to provide Plaintiff and California Class with accurate wage
statements have been knowing and intentional.

118. Defendants had thé ability to provide Plaintiff and the California Class with
accurate wage statements but have intentionally provided them with wage statements that
Defendants have known to be inaccurate as a result of not recording all of their hours worked

and not paying them wages for all hours worked.
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119.  Plaintiff and the California Class members have been deprived of their legal rights
to receive accurate wage statements and they have been misled about the amount of wages they
have actually earned.

120.  Pursuant to CLC Section 226(e), Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California
Class, seeks the greater of actual damages or $50.00 for the initial pay period in which a
violation of Section 226(a) occurred, and $100.00 for each subsequent pay periéd in which a
violation of Section 226(a) occurred, not to exceed an aggregate penalty of $4,000.00 per
member of the California Class, as well as awards of reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Failure to Reimburse Expenses in Violation of CLC §2802)
As to Plaintiff and the California Class

121.  Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 120 as though they were fully set forth herein.

122.  CLC Section 2802 provides that “an employer shall indemnify his or her
employee for all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct
consequence of the discharge of his or her duties, or of his or her obedience to the directions of
the employer, even though unlawful, unless the employee, at the time of obeying the directions,
believed them to be unlawful.”

123.  During the course of Plaintiff’s employment, he incurred expenses in the
discharge of his duties as an employee, including but not limited to, MP3 players, ipods, music,
CDs, computers, mixing software, and travel expenses. These business expenses, which were
known to Defendants but were not reimbursed.

124.  Upon information and belief, throughout the California Class Period, members of

the California Class incurred expenses in the discharge of their duties as employees, including
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but not limited to, MP3 players, ipods, music, CDs, computers, mixing software, and travel
expenses. Upon information and belief, these business expenses, which were known to
Defendants, were not reimbursed.
125. Plaintiff and the California Class are entitled to reimbursement for these
expenditures, plus interest and attorneys’ fees and costs.
EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Failure to Timely Pay All Final Wages in Violation of CLC §§201-203)
As To Plaintiff and the California Class

126. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 125 as though they were fully set forth herein.

127. CLC Section 201 provides that all of the earned and unpaid wages of a discharged
employee become due and payable immediately at the time of discharge.

128. CLC Section 202 provides that an employee who voluntarily separates after
giving at least 72 hours-notice of his or her intention to voluntarily separate is entitled to all of
his or her earned and unpaid wages at the time of voluntary separation.

129. CLC Section 202 also provides that an employee who voluntarily separates after
giving less than 72 hours-notice of his or her intention to voluntarily separate is entitled to all of
his or her earned and unpaid wages within 72 hours of voluntary separation.

130. CLC Section 203 provides that an employee’s wages shall continue on a daily
basis, until all wages are paid, for up to a maximum of 30 days where an employer willfully falls
to timely pay the employee all of his or her earned and unpaid wages.

131.  During the applicable limitations period, Defendants have applied centrally
devised payroll policies and practices when paying wages to the members of the California Class

who have been discharged or voluntarily separated.
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132.  During the applicable limitations period, Defendants discharged Plaintiff and
failed to immediately pay all of his earned and unpaid wages by failing to furnish him with a
final paycheck encompassing all of his earned and unpaid wages as a result of their failures and
unlawful pay practices described herein.

133. Defendants have failed to timely pay members of the California Class who have
been discharged or voluntarily separated all of their earned and unpaid wages in accordance with
the CLC by failing to furnish them with final paychecks encompassing all earned and unpaid
wages as a result of their failures and unlawful pay practices described herein.

134. Defendants have willfully adopted centrally devised policies and practices that
result in late and/or incomplete final wage payments that violate CLC Sections 201 and/or 202
and, as a result, have willfully failed to timely pay all earned and unpaid wages to their former
employees.

135. Pursuant to CLC Section 203, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and members of the
California Class who have been discharged or voluntarily separated, seek continuation‘ of their
wages from the days that all of their earned and unpaid wages first became due until all of their
earned and unpaid wages are or were actually paid, for up to a maximum of 30 days, in addition

to awards of reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees.

v NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of the Unfair Competition and Business Practices Act)
As To Plaintiff and the California Class

136.  Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California Class, hereby realleges and
incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 135 as though they were fully set forth herein.
137. UCL Section 17200 prohibits unfair competition in the form of any unlawful,

unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice.

24



138. UCL Section 17204 allows “any person acting for the interesté of itself, its
members of the general public” to prosecute a civil action for violation of the UCL.

139. At all relevant times herein, Defendants have committed unlawful, unfair, and/or
fraudulent business acts and practices as defined by UCL Section 17200, by engaging in
including but not limited to:

(a) Failing to pay Plaintiff and the California Class the applicable minimum
wage for all hours worked, as described above; '

(b) Failing to provide Plaintiff and the California Class with accurate and
itemized wage statements, as described above;

(c) Failing to reimburse Plaintiff and the California Class for necessary work
related expenses they were required to incur as part of their jobs, as
described above; and

(d) Failing to pay Plaintiff and the members of the California Class who have
been discharged or voluntarily separated with all compensation owed
within the statutory time period.

140. The violation of these laws serve as unlawful predicate acts and practices for
purposes of the UCL.

141.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful, unfair, and/or
fraudulent acts and practices described herein, Defendants have received and continue to hold ill-
gotten gains in the amount of those unpaid wages and un-reimbursed business expenses owed to
Plaintiff and California Class.

142.  Upon information and belief, Defendants are able to unfairly compete with other

comparable companies in the State of California by not paying wages in violation of UCL

Sections 17000 and 17200 ef seq.
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143.  Due to these unfair, fraudulent and/or unlawful business practices, Defendants
have gained a competitive advantage over other comparable companies doing business in the
State of California.

144. The victims of these unfair, fraudulent and/or illegal business practices include,
but are not limited to, Plaintiff and the members of the California Class, competing fitness center
operators in the State of California, and the general public.

145.  Upon information and belief, Defendants performed the above-mentioned acts
with the intent of gaining an unfair competitive advantage and thereby injuring Plaintiff, the
California Class, other competitors, and the general public.

146. Plaintiff and the California Class’ success in this action will enforce important
rights affecting the public interest. In this regard, Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of
himself and the California Class, and requests restitution of all wages and monies wrongfully
retained by Defendants in violation of Business and Professions Code Sections 17000 and 17200
et seq. since four years prior to filing the complaint in this action and any other appropriate
remedy.

147.  Plaintiff has assumed the responsibility of enforcement of the laws and lawful
claims specified herein. Thére is a financial burden incurred in pursuing this action which is in
the public interest.

148.  Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the California Class, seeks all available
remedies, in addition to attorney’s fees and expenses, all of which are cumulative pursuant to

UCL Section 17205.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the New York Class and the

California Class, respectfully requests that this Court:

A. Declare that the practices complained of herein are unlawful under applicable
state law;
B. Declare this action to be maintainable as a class action pursuant to FRCP 23, and

direct Defendants to provide Plaintiff with a list of all members of the New York Class during
the New York Class Period and the California Class during the California Class Period,
including all last known addresses, telephone numbers and e-mail addresses of each such person
so Plaintiff can give such persons notice of this action and an opportunity to make an informed
decision about whether to participate in it;

C. Designate Plaintiff as a representative of his respective classes, and his counsel of

record as class counsel;

D. Determine the damages sustained by Plaintiff, the New York Class and the
California Class as a result of Defendants’ violations of the NYLL, the CLC and the UCL and/or
its regulations, and award those damages against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiff and the
New York Class and California Class, plus such pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as may
be allowed by law;

E. Award Plaintiff, the New York Class and the California Class, liquidated damages
because Defendants’ violations were willful and/or without a good faith basis;

F. Award Plaintiff, the New York Class and the California Class their reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs and disbursements in this action including, but not limited to, any

accountants’ or experts’ fees; and
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G. Grant Plaintiff, the New York Class such other and further relief that the Court

deems just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and on behalf of all the New York Class and the California
Class, hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues of fact and damages.

Dated: May 2, 2013
New York, New York
Respectfully submitted,

THOMPSON j E OR LLP

Ifougla\é H. Wigdor
David E. Gottlieb

85 Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10003
Telephone: (212) 257-6800
Facsimile: (212) 257-6845
dwigdor@thompsonwigdor.com
dgottlieb@thompsonwigdor.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff, the Proposed New York
Class and the Proposed California Class
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